IDENTITY OF PETITIONER, CITATION TO DECISION &

INTRODUCTION 

The Doctors Company (TDC) seeks review of the Court of 

Appeals decision in The Doctors Co. v. Bennett Bigelow & 

Leedom, P.S., Washington State Court of Appeals No. 72163-1-1 

(May 26, 2015) (copy attached). Insurance-defense counsel (BBL) 

told TDC that no potential conflicts of interest existed to preclude BBL 

from representing all three of TOG's insureds, two doctors and their 

clinic. This was negligent legal advice. 

When the actual conflict later developed, BBL lied to TDC and 

to the insureds (saying that no conflict existed) and then failed to 

disclose the conflict until the eve of trial. By then it was too late for 

TDC to remedy the problem with the new counsel it hired, where the 

trial court denied the new counsel a continuance. This required TDC 

to pay $7 million above its policy limits to protect its insureds. 

When TDC sued BBL for legal malpractice, the trial court 

dismissed on summary judgment. This Court denied direct review, 

and then issued Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank, 178 

Wn.2d 561, 565, 311 P.3d 1 (2013). The Court of Appeals incorrectly 

held that Stewart Title bared these claims. TDC has no remedy. The 

Court should grant review, reverse, and remand for trial. 
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ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Where, as here, an insurance carrier seeks and relies upon legal 

advice from retained insurance defense counsel regarding conflicts 

of interest in defending three insureds in one action, but counsel 

ignore potential conflicts to the sole detriment of the carrier, may the 

carrier sue counsel for legal malpractice? What if counsel also 

affirmatively misrepresent an existing conflict to the carrier and the 

insureds, but only the carrier is harmed by the misrepresentation? 

2. In addition, should this Court adopt the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF 

THE LAW GOVERNING lAWYERS§ 51, where (as here) (a) the interests 

of the insurer and its insureds wholly align, (b) counsel and clients 

knew that one of the primary objectives of the representation was 

that counsel's services would benefit the insurer, (c) imposing such 

a duty would not impair counsel's performance of obligations to their 

clients, and (d) the absence of such a duty would make enforcement 

of those obligations to the client highly unlikely? 

3. In the alternative, and under the above facts, is the carrier a third

party beneficiary of the attorney-client relationship, particularly in 

light of the indisputable fact that if the carrier cannot recover for the 

attorneys' malpractice, no one can? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. TDC accepted the defense of its insureds without a 
reservation of rights. 

The Court of Appeals correctly states the facts (App. at 2-4), 

which are also correctly stated, in greater detail and with citations, in 

TOG's opening and reply briefs. In brief summary, TDC insured 

Doctors Mitchell Nudelman and Heather Moore, and their employer, 

Bellegrove Ob/Gyn, Inc. (collectively, the insureds). Mark and Jean 

Gabarra sued the insureds after their newborn suffered severe 

disabilities, alleging medical malpractice. TDC accepted the defense 

of all of its insureds with no reservation of rights. 

B. TDC sought, received, and relied upon BBL's legal advice 
that no conflicts of interest existed. 

TDC claims representative Nancy Nucci talked to Bennett 

Bigelow & Leedom (BBL) attorney Amy Forbis about representing 

the insureds and conflicts of interest. TDC vice-president Anthony 

Luttrell told Nucci to ask BBL whether they would have a conflict of 

interest in representing all three insureds. CP 1851. BBL attorneys 

Forbis and Jennifer Moore told Nucci that neither a present nor a 

potential conflict of interest existed. CP 1117-18, 1851. BBL did not 

disclose a potential conflict or obtain a written waiver under RPC 

1.7(4). TDC relied upon BBL's legal advice. CP 1851. 
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C. BBL falsely told TDC and the insureds that Dr. Manning 
supported both doctors, failing to disclose an existing 
conflict of interest. 

Dr. Nudelman asked his BBL counsel to retain Dr. Frank 

Manning, a top expert in his field. CP 521, 1768. By July 20, 2010, 

attorney Moore had informed Nucci that "Dr. Manning believes the 

care provided by all was within the standard of care." CP 526. She 

further stated that Dr. Manning "is not critical at all of the way Dr. 

Nudelman managed the delivery." /d. BBL disclosed Dr. Manning 

as an expert witness for both doctors. CP 1761. 

Attorney Moore's representations to TDC regarding Dr. 

Manning were false. In an April 2010 call with attorney Moore, Dr. 

Manning stated unequivocally that while Dr. Moore adhered to the 

standard of care, Dr. Nudelman did not. CP 1156-57, 1163, 1165,1 

1758, 1784-85. Dr. Manning was emphatic that he told attorney 

Moore in no uncertain terms that he could not support Dr. Nudelman: 

I am mortified to read Ms. [Jennifer] Moore's report in which 
she suggests I was 'not critical of the way Dr. Nudelman 
managed the delivery.' To offer such a position would require 
that I accept a 5 or more hours of second stage including 
picotin augmentation to be within the standard- I simply could 
never adopt such a position. I am quite certain Ms. Moore 
knew I could not serve as an expert for Dr. Nudelman. 

1 These are Dr. Manning's notes of his conversation with attorney Moore 
(Ex 200 to his deposition). At the bottom he wrote, "Moore Okay 1 Can't 
defend Nudelman." CP 1155, 1165. 
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CP 1784-85 (emphasis added). But BBL did not disclose Dr. 

Manning's actual opinion to TDC for months, instead telling TDC that 

Dr. Manning supported Dr. Nudelman. CP 526. 

D. When BBL finally revealed the conflicts shortly before 
trial, TDC was forced to pay $7 million above its policy 
limits in order to protect its insureds. 

After a continuance, the jury trial was to begin on November 

15, 2010. CP 262. The discovery cutoff was September 27, 2010. 

/d. In the weeks before this cutoff, BBL attorneys Forbis and Moore 

were much more involved in a different medical malpractice trial, 

Costales v. Univ. of Wash. Med. Cntr., King County Superior Court 

No. 08-2-183526-5 SEA. CP 2137, 2142-45, 2210-14, 2247. 

In September 2010, Dr. Moore called Nucci to ask for 

separate counsel. When TDC finally learned that Dr. Manning could 

not support Dr. Nudelman, TDC told BBL to withdraw due to the 

conflicts of interest. For each of its insureds, TDC retained both 

independent counsel (to advise on the insurance situation) and also 

separate defense counsel. The trial court denied the new counsel's 

motion for a continuance. TDC was forced to settle with the Gabarras 

for over $10,000,000-$7,000,000 above policy limits. 
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E. TDC sued BBL for legal malpractice, but the trial court 
granted BBL summary judgment. 

TDC sued BBL under various legal theories, including legal 

malpractice. The trial court granted BBL summary judgment. 

F. This Court denied direct review, and the Court of Appeals 
affirmed, failing to properly analyze any of the legal 
arguments that TDC raised. 

Aware that this Court was considering Stewart Title, TDC 

sought direct review in this Court in hopes of letting the Court know 

that another case - involving far more egregious attorney 

malpractice - was in the pipeline. The Court denied direct review, 

and much as TDC had feared, it found no cause of action in Stewart 

Title. As discussed infra, however, Stewart Title does not 

completely shut the door on an insurer's claim for legal malpractice. 

Unfortunately, however, the Court of Appeals felt that Stewart 

Title tied its hands. It simply refused to evaluate this case under 

RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW GOVERNING lAWYERS§ 51 {2000) 

(App. at 8-10), and held that Stewart Title eliminates any possibility 

of an insurer's claim against insurance defense counsel under the 

third-party beneficiary analysis of Trask v. Butler, 123 Wn.2d 835, 

872 P.2d 1080 (1994) (App. at 11-14. Neither analysis is correct. 

The Court of Appeals also refused to consider TOG's claim 

that by giving TDC direct (and faulty) legal advice regarding conflicts 
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of interest - which TDC reasonably relied upon - and by further 

withholding and even misrepresenting the existence of an actual 

conflict of interest, BBL had established and then breached a direct 

attorney-client relationship with TDC. App. at 4-8. The appellate 

court held that TDC did not adequately raise this claim in the trial 

court. /d. But it so ruled despite the many places in the record where 

this issue was discussed (see infra); despite the fact that under RAP 

2.5(a), it had discretion to consider the issue even if it was not 

properly raised ("The appellate court may refuse to review any claim 

of error which was not raised in the trial court"); and despite RAP 

1.2(a) ("Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of 

compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling 

circumstances where justice demands"). /d. 

The upshot is that this Court refused to reach these crucial 

issues, the Court of Appeals also refused to reach them, and TDC is 

left without a remedy for millions in damages, where counsel it 

retained and paid lied about conflicts. If this seems too strong, the 

Court must remember that this is summary judgment all facts and 

reasonable inferences are taken in the light most favorable to TDC. 
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ARGUMENT 

A. The decision is in conflict with numerous decisions of 
this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

1. This Court's plenary authority over lawyer ethics. 

This Court has often repeated its plenary authority over lawyer 

ethics in Washington. See, e.g., In re Dynan, 152 Wn.2d 601, 98 

P.3d 444 (2004) ("In disciplinary proceedings, the Supreme Court 

has 'plenary authority' and the court's discretion is limited only by the 

evidence before it"; citing In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against 

Whitt, 149 Wn.2d 707, 716, 72 P.3d 173 (2003)); In re Disciplinary 

Proceeding Against Ansche/1, 149 Wn.2d 484, 501 (2003) (Court 

"retains the ultimate authority for determining the proper sanction for 

an attorney's misconduct"; citing In re Disciplinary Proceeding 

Against Ansche/1, 141 Wn.2d 593, 607, 9 P.3d 193 (2000)). 

This Court thus should be concerned by the ethics violations 

occurring in this case. This is particularly true in light of the many 

RPC violations implicated here: 

RPC 1.1 (duty of competent representation); 

RPC 1.3 (duty to act with reasonable diligence); 

RPC 1.7 (nondelegable duty to identify and disclose conflicts); 

RPC 2.3 (lawyer evaluations for benefit of third party); and 
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RPC 4.1 ("a lawyer shall not knowingly ... make a false 
statement of material fact or law to a third person"). 

Taking the facts in the light most favorable to TDC, BBL 

violated each of these mandatory ethics rules, while TDC rightfully 

relied on BBL to comply with them. Yet if TDC cannot sue due to 

these ethical breaches, BBL faces no consequences for its serious 

violations, where TDC stepped up and protected its insureds from 

suffering any damages as a result of BBL's negligence. This Court 

should grant review, reverse, and remand for trial in order to protect 

the integrity of the legal profession. 

2. Stewart Title and Trask. 

Stewart Title unequivocally and repeatedly states that the 

insurer in that case did not show enough to meet the first Trask 

factor, not that an insurer could never meet all of them. See Stewart 

Title, 178 Wn.2d at 567 (mere alignment of interests insufficient to 

show intent to benefit); 569 (retention letter with limited duty to inform 

insufficient to show intent to benefit). Stewart Title does not 

foreclose an action here. 

BBL nonetheless argued that this Court "has recently and 

emphatically rejected TOG's argument that a liability carrier is a third 

party beneficiary of the attorney-client relationship between retained 

counsel and the insured-client." BR 27 (citing Stewart Title). Aside 
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from the obvious fact that TDC's arguments were not raised in 

Stewart Title, that opinion repeatedly emphasizes that Stewart Title 

did not present sufficient evidence to meet the Trask test, not that 

no carrier could ever meet the test: 

The alignment of interests is insufficient to find a duty 
running from Witherspoon to Stewart Title for purposes of a 
malpractice claim. 

The fact that an insurer's and insured's interests happen to 
align in some respects ... does not by itself show that the 
attorney or client intended the insurer to benefit from the 
attorney's representation of the insured. 

We conclude that Witherspoon's duty to inform Stewart Title 
is insufficient to establish a further duty of care ... 

We hold that an alignment of interests is insufficient to 
support a duty of care to a nonclient. We further hold that a 
contractual duty to inform is insufficient to support a duty of 
care to a nonclient. Putting both of them together does not 
cure the insufficiency. 

Stewart Title, 178 Wn.2d at 567-69 (bold added). Stewart Title is 

very clear that the two facts Stewart Title raised - alignment of 

interests and contractual duty to report - were, by themselves, 

insufficient to establish a duty. 

By contrast, here we have not only those two factors, but all six 

Trask factors. See BA 22-27. TDC argued that it is a third-party 

beneficiary under the six-factor test in Trask and Stewart Title: 
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(1) The tripartite relationship is intended to benefit both TDC 
and the insureds to the fullest possible extent by fulfilling 
TOG's contractual duty to its insureds; 

(2) financial harm to TDC was easily foreseeable; 

(3) TDC certainly suffered that harm; 

(4) BBL's malpractice directly caused that harm; 

(5) a strong public policy exists against creating a safe harbor 
for malpractice; and 

(6) the legal profession is not unduly burdened - or indeed 
burdened at all - by requiring BBL to properly represent 
insureds: avoiding and disclosing potential and actual 
conflicts of interest. 

BA 22-27. In light of BBL's serious malpractice, a duty must exist. 

Moreover, Stewart Title merely argued that insurance-defense 

counsel failed to assert a viable defense. 178 Wn.2d at 563. But 

here, BBL did far worse (see BA 5-9): 

BBL failed to recognize and disclose potential conflicts; 

BBL failed to obtain a written conflicts waiver; 

BBL failed to disclose an actual conflict when it arose; 

BBL lied to TDC and the insureds about the actual conflict; 

BBL failed to comply with the case schedule; and 

BBL thereby created an untenable litigation situation. 

Stewart Title simply did not confront the sorts of egregious 

malpractice alleged in this case. The strong policies against creating 
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a safe harbor for legal malpractice, and in favor of ensuring just 

compensation for those injured by such malpractice, mandate finding 

a duty under the facts of this case. 

3. Stewart Title and§ 51. 

TDC also asks this Court to join the majority of states in 

recognizing a direct duty running from insurance defense counsel to 

the insurer in non-reservation-of-rights cases, and to do so under the 

three-part test stated in the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW 

GOVERNING LAWYERS§ 51. BA 15-22. The§ 51 test is more precisely 

calibrated to the tripartite insurance-defense relationship than Trask 

or Stewart Title. /d. And TDC meets this test because 

(1) BBL undeniably knew that one of the primary objectives of 
the representation was that its services would also benefit 
TDC - indeed, its services were expressly intended to fulfill 
TDC's contractual duties to its insureds; 

(2) TDC demanded only that BBL properly represent the 
insureds/clients, without reservation, so no conflict existed 
between TDC's and the insured's interests; and 

(3) if TDC cannot sue BBL, no one can, where TDC protected 
its insureds from suffering the harms caused by BBL's 
malpractice. /d. 

The Court should adopt§ 51 in this limited arena. 

BBL falsely asserted that Stewart Title "expressly rejected 

the very standard that TDC now urges this Court to adopt." BR 37. 

The "see a/so" cite to § 51 in Stewart Title's n.2 refers to this 

12 



statement: "that an insurer's and insured's interests happen to align 

in some respects ... does not by itself show that the attorney or client 

intended the insurer to benefit from the attorney's representation of 

the insured." 178 Wn.2d at 567, text at n.2. Stewart Title never 

expressly rejected § 51, which (as BBL admits at BR 37) was raised 

for the first time in supplemental briefing. It was not properly before 

this Court, where (unlike here) it was not raised in the trial court. And 

Stewart Title's holdings are unequivocal: 

We hold that an alignment of interests is insufficient to support 
a duty to of care to a nonclient. We further hold that a 
contractual duty to inform is insufficient to support a duty of 
care to a nonclient. Putting both of them together does not 
cure the insufficiency. 

178 Wn.2d at 569. Stewart Title says nothing dispositive about§ 51. 

4. Shoemake and making plaintiffs whole. 

This Court recently restated the fundamental principle that 

requires reversal here - in a case involving lawyer malpractice -

Shoemake v. Ferrer, 168 Wn.2d 193, 198, 225 P.3d 990 (2010) 

(citing 16 DeWolf &Keller, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: TORT LAW AND 

PRACTICE §5.1, at 172): 

The guiding principle of tort law is to make the injured party as 
whole as possible through pecuniary compensation. 

That is, tort law fundamentally seeks to ensure that a party harmed 

by an attorney's legal malpractice may seek just compensation. 
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Contrary to this bedrock principle, allowing this decision to 

stand results in an absolute immunity and safe harbor from liability 

for insurance defense counsel who commit egregious malpractice 

and misrepresent facts to the insurer. It leaves the only injured party 

-the insurance company- without a remedy. This Court should 

grant review and reverse. 

B. This petition involves issues of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 
13.4(b)(4). 

1. TDC adequately raised a direct attorney-client 
relationship theory and BBL 's misrepresentation, 
but even if it had not, the Court should exercise its 
discretion to address this important - and fully 
briefed- question of lawyer ethics. 

The appellate court held that TDC did not sufficiently raise its 

theory that BBL gave TDC direct legal advice regarding conflicts, 

which TDC justifiably relied upon, and even misrepresented an 

existing conflict until it was too late to remedy the situation with new 

counsel. But TDC did properly raise this issue. See BA 10-14; Reply 

5-7. In addition to the places mentioned at those cites, TDC pled 

BBL's misrepresentations regarding the absence of potential, and 

then actual, conflicts (CP 5-7); it argued in response to defendants' 

summary judgment motions that if the trial court concluded that the 

defendants owed TDC a duty of care, then summary judgment 

14 



should be denied (CP 381); it repeatedly argued BBL's 

misrepresentations (including vis a vis RPC 4.1) as violations of the 

attorney-client relationship (CP 389-95). 

The simple truth is that TDC - much like the Court of Appeals 

-felt somewhat hamstrung by decisions like Stewart Title. It plainly 

argued that BBL misrepresented potential and actual conflicts to 

TDC, and alleged legal malpractice. The facts in the light most 

favorable to TDC obviously support this claim. The appellate court 

simply erred in not reaching the question. 

As noted, RAP 2.5(a) is permissive- an appellate court may 

refuse to reach a question it does not believe was sufficiently raised. 

But even if this Court agrees with the Court of Appeals, it should 

nonetheless exercise its plenary authority over attorney misconduct 

and accept review of this monumental question: if an insurer pays 

above policy limits to protect its insureds from insurance-defense 

counsel's malpractice, thereby precluding its insureds from suffering 

damages, does this Court wish to insulate the defense counsel from 

litigation seeking fair compensation for their malpractice? Creating a 

safe harbor solely for insurance-defense counsel - where any other 

lawyer in Washington would be subject to potential liability - raises 
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the troubling specter of protectionism and unequal treatment. This 

Court should refuse to shelter wrongdoing of this magnitude. 

The counterpoint to this important policy question is an 

homage to the "independence" of insurance-defense counsel. This 

Court has limited the heightened duty of such counsel to reservation-

of-rights situations. See Reply at 9-11. A rule (like RESTATEMENT§ 

51) that excludes reservation-of-rights situations is sufficient to 

protect the tripartite relationship among insureds, insurers, and 

insurance counsel. And where, as here, counsel gives deficient 

conflict advice, and then goes so far as to misrepresent and hide an 

actual conflict, counsel should find no safe harbor in this Court. 

2. Assuming arguendo that no direct attorney-client 
relationship exists between TDC and BBL, the 
Court must allow TDC to enforce RPC 4.1; 
otherwise, no one can enforce it. 

In a third-party context, the RPC 4.1 violation is perhaps the 

most troubling. See RPC 4.1 ("In the course of representing a client 

a lawyer shall not knowingly: (a) make a false statement of material 

fact or law to a third person"). Assuming that no direct attorney-client 

relationship exists, when BBL misrepresented Dr. Manning's opinion 

to TDC, it directly violated this rule- wholly intended to protect non-

client members of the public with whom lawyers interact- as a matter 
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of law. See, e.g., Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 457, 824 P.2d 

1207 (1992) (whether attorney's conduct violates the RPCs is a 

question of law). 

This has nothing to do with whether TDC is a third-party 

beneficiary of the attorney-client relationship between the insureds 

and insurance-defense counsel. RPC 4.1 is not limited by any sort of 

privity doctrine. It simply forbids lawyers from misrepresenting facts 

or law to any third person. In light of this rule, TDC should be allowed 

to pursue its claim regarding BBL's obvious negligent 

misrepresentation of Dr. Manning's willingness to support Dr. 

Nudelman. 

The trial court's refusal to find a duty here essentially 

eviscerates RPC 4.1: ifTDC cannot sue BBL for this violation, no one 

can. See, e.g., CP 390-91, 1806. This Court should not countenance 

having an ethics rule designed to protect third parties that even third 

parties may not enforce. It should reverse and remand for trial. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review.