RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Aug 26, 2015, 11:07 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91871-6

E CRF

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

THE DOCTORS COMPANY, a California Interinsurance Exchange,

Petitioner,

v.

BENNETT BIGELOW & LEEDOM, P.S., a Washington professional services corporation; AMY THOMPSON FORBIS and JOHN DOE FORBIS, her husband, and the marital community comprised thereof; and JENNIFER LYNN MOORE and JOHN DOE MOORE, her husband, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

BYRNES KELLER CROMWELL,

LLP

By: Howard M. Goodfriend

WSBA No. 14355

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

IV. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

A. The Court of Appeals properly addressed only those claims and arguments made to the trial court on summary judgment.

As a threshold mater, the Court should reject TDC's newly minted arguments that TDC was a "client" of BBL, or that BBL could be liable for a negligent misrepresentation – theories never asserted below. The Court of Appeals correctly considered only those claims and arguments advanced in the trial court and raised in TDC's opening appellate brief.

Under RAP 2.5(a), "the appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a). "Arguments or theories not presented to the trial court will generally not be considered on appeal." Washburn v. Beatt Equip.

Co., 120 Wn.2d 246, 290, 840 P.2d 860 (1992). There was nothing "monumental" (Pet. 15) in the Court of Appeals' refusal to exercise its "discretion to consider a theory which the lower court had no effective opportunity to consider . . .". (Op. 5, quoting Commercial Credit Corp. v. Wollgast, 11 Wn. App. 117, 126, 521 P.2d 1191, rev. denied, 84 Wn.2d 1004 (1974))

TDC never alleged or argued that it was BBL's "client;" it could not have plausibly asserted such a theory in light of its well documented admission that BBL represented only TDC's insureds Drs. Moore, Nudelman and their Clinic. (CP 697-98) The Court of Appeals thoroughly documented TDC's repeated reliance on *Trask* and the RESTATEMENT § 51 to argue in the trial court that BBC owed TDC a duty of care as a *non-client*. (Op. 5, citing CP 94, 813, 1039, 1100; OP. 7, citing CP 87-94) The Court properly addressed only the third party beneficiary argument that TDC advanced below and rejected TDC's attempt to raise new arguments for the first time on appeal.

TDC now alleges that it detrimentally relied on BBL's negligent "misrepresentations regarding the absence of potential, then actual conflicts" (Pet. 14) – a theory that it did not assert in its complaint, on summary judgment, or in its appellate briefing, and

first raised "in a supplemental statement of authorities submitted the day before oral argument." (Op.14, n.63) See RESTATEMENT (SECOND) TORTS § 552 (providing false information for guidance of others in their business transactions). And while TDC now tries to bootstrap its misrepresentation argument into a claim for breach of a duty owed to a non-client by relying on RPC 4.1, TDC failed to even cite that rule in its Brief of Appellant.² This Court will not address an issue first raised in a petition for review. Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998).

B. The Court of Appeals followed *Trask*, *Mazon*, and *Stewart Title* in refusing to relax the circumstances under which a non-client may sue a lawyer.

Following both established and recent precedent, the Court of Appeals correctly held that a liability insurer has no claim for legal malpractice against retained counsel. Less than two years ago, in its unanimous *Stewart Title* decision, this Court refused to adopt RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW GOVERNING LAWYERS § 51. There is no basis to revisit, let alone overrule, that decision here.

² TDC's belated assertion of a laundry list of alleged ethical violations (Pet. 11) also fails to acknowledge this Court's holding that a legal malpractice claim is based on a violation of the standard of care, and not "on an attorney's failure to conform to an ethics rule." *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 265, 830 P.2d 646 (1992).

In *Trask v. Butler*, this Court adopted a six-factor test for determining whether an attorney owes a duty of care, enforceable in tort, to a non-client.³ The Court adhered to *Trask* in *Mazon v. Krafchick*, 158 Wn.2d 440, 448, ¶ 15, 144 P.3d 1168 (2006), where it adopted "a bright line rule" rejecting as a matter of law the establishment of a duty of care owed by one attorney to co-counsel. ⁴

Two years ago, the Court in *Stewart Title* again reaffirmed *Trask*, rejecting a title insurer's claim of legal malpractice against a law firm that it paid to represent its insured, and holding that only the insured client was the intended beneficiary of the law firm's services. In a 9-0 decision, the *Stewart Title* Court recognized that

Trask, 123 Wn.2d at 843.

³ Those factors are:

^{1.} The extent to which the transaction was intended to benefit the plaintiff;

^{2.} The foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff;

^{3.} The degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury;

^{4.} The closeness of the connection between the lawyer's conduct and the injury;

^{5.} The policy of preventing future harm; and

^{6.} The extent to which the profession would be unduly burdened by finding liability.

⁴ As the Court of Appeals noted (Op. 10, n.44), the dissent in *Mazon* argued, just as TDC does here, that the Court should abandon *Trask* in favor of the three-factor test under RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE LAW GOVERNING LAWYERS, § 51. 158 Wn.2d at 454-56, ¶ 30 (Sanders, J., dissenting).

whatever benefits flow to the liability insurer from retained counsel's representation of its insured are insufficient to outweigh the risks of potential conflicts of interest between a liability insurer and its insured were the insurer given standing to sue retained counsel as a third party beneficiary:

The fact that an insurer's and insured's interests happen to align in some respects. . . does not by itself show that the attorney or client *intended* the insurer to benefit from the attorney's representation of the insured.

178 Wn.2d at 567, ¶ 14.

This Court rejected the insurer's malpractice claim against retained counsel after expressly acknowledging that "other jurisdictions have come to a different conclusion," by allowing a liability carrier to sue retained defense counsel for legal malpractice under RESTATEMENT § 51. Stewart Title, 178 Wn.2d at 567 & n.2.5 The Stewart Title Court thus expressly refused to relax Trask's requirement that a non-client show that the "transaction was intended to benefit a third party" based on an "alignment of interests" between a liability insurer and its insured. 178 Wn.2d at

⁵ "[A] lawyer designated by an insurer to defend an insured owes a duty of care to the insurer . . . [for] matters as to which the insurer and insured are not in conflict, whether or not the insurer is held to be a co-client of the lawyer." RESTATEMENT § 51, comment g.

567, ¶ 14 (emphasis in original). Yet that is exactly what TDC argues here in asserting that "one of the primary objectives of the representation was . . . [to] benefit TDC." (Pet. 12)

TDC's contention that the Stewart Title Court's refusal to adopt Section 51 was not "dispositive" is meritless. (Pet. 13) In a published decision that TDC does not even cite, Division Two held that Stewart Title "controls" in rejecting a liability insurer's legal malpractice claim against the firm it had retained to represent its insured, just as the Court of Appeals did here. Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App. 689, 700, \$\mathbb{1} 20, 324 P.3d 743, rev. denied, 181 Wn.2d 1008 (2014). Rejecting the insurer's contention that a duty of care should depend on the nature of the attorney's alleged negligence, Division Two held that the Stewart Title Court "gave no indication . . . that there could be circumstances under which the representation of an attorney retained to represent an insured would be for the benefit of the insurer." 180 Wn. App. at 700, \$\mathbb{1} 20.

Clark County expressly rejected TDC's current argument that the existence of a duty should depend on the nature of the lawyer's alleged breach. TDC's argument puts the cart before the horse and makes for poor public policy. As the Mazon Court recognized, "a

bright-line rule that no duties exist" is preferable to having counsel's ethical responsibilities and tort duty turn on a post-hoc assessment of the particular facts of a particular case. *Mazon*, 158 Wn.2d at 448-49, ¶15-16. TDC instead advocates a fact-specific, case by case determination that would allow an insurer's well-crafted allegations, such as TDC's repeated hyperbole of "egregious malpractice," to establish a legal duty enforceable in tort. (Pet. 11, 14) That is no rule at all.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with *Clark County*, RAP 13.4(b)(2), and adheres to this Court's decisions in *Stewart Title*, *Mazon* and *Trask*. RAP 13.4(b)(1). TDC cannot make the requisite "clear showing that [this] established rule is incorrect and harmful" to overrule this established precedent. *Riehl v. Foodmaker*, *Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 138, 147, 94 P.3d 930 (2004) (quotation omitted). This Court should deny review.

C. The public interest is not furthered by compromising retained counsel's duty of loyalty to his or her client.

TDC's paean to this Court's "plenary authority over lawyer ethics" (Pet. 8) in an attempt to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(4) rings especially hollow. "Public policy prohibits an attorney from owing a duty to anyone other than the client when the collateral duty creates a risk of divided loyalty due to conflicts of interest or breaches of

confidence." *Mazon*, 158 Wn.2d at 448, ¶ 14, quoting *Tank v. State Farm*, 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). As the trial court held, this Court has steadfastly refused to "retreat from or re-write" *Tank's* bedrock principle that in the insurance setting, retained defense counsel's "only client" is the insured. (CP 1948) *See Stewart Title*, 178 Wn.2d at 565, ¶ 9. This principle applies in *all* cases in which a liability insurer appoints counsel to represent its insured, not just "reservation of rights situations," as TDC alleges. (Pet. 16) *See Tank*, 105 Wn.2d at 388.

In applying *Trask*, the courts below were especially sensitive to conflicts of interest that would result if retained counsel's loyalties were compromised by establishment of simultaneous duties, enforceable in tort, owed to both the liability insurer and to the insured who is retained counsel's client. As the trial court recognized, the "potential conflicts and divided loyalties in the present case are even more acute than in *Stewart Title*." (CP 1958; see also CP 1960: "there was a huge level conflict between the clients and the plaintiff/insurance company in this case . . .") The Court of Appeals similarly viewed the potential conflicts as a major impediment to the imposition of a duty of care owed to the liability insurer. (Op. 12-14 & n.54)

From the outset, TDC's insureds faced claims well in excess of their limits of liability – perhaps the most common conflict between an insured and its liability insurer. See Besel v. Viking Ins. Co. of Wisconsin, 146 Wn.2d 730, 49 P.3d 887 (2002). TDC refused to mediate, breaching its duty to "make a good faith effort to settle the case" on terms favorable to its insured. Truck Ins. Exch. of Farmers Ins. Grp. v. Century Indem. Co., 76 Wn. App. 527, 534, 887 P.2d 455, rev. denied, 127 Wn.2d 1002 (1995). TDC then devised a strategy to save \$2 million under Dr. Moore's policy rather than pursue settlement of an excess claim for which liability was reasonably clear. (CP 636-37)

In light of its steadfast refusal to pursue a settlement with the Gabarras, TDC's invocation of the "fundamental principle" of tort law "to make the injured party . . .whole" (Pet. 13, quoting *Shoemake v. Ferrer*, 168 Wn.2d 193, 198, 225 P.3d 990 (2010)) is Orwellian doublespeak at its finest. Liability carriers such as TDC are uniquely positioned to protect themselves from counsel's negligence, because they owe a duty to their insureds to monitor defense counsel and, within policy limits, to direct the defense, just as TDC did here. (CP 638, 805) Liability carriers have billions of dollars at their disposal to employ internal consultants to review the file, as TDC did here (CP

231, 249), and to obtain advice from their own attorneys, as TDC did here. (CP 201) In the end, "it is the insurer that controls whether it acts in good faith or bad." *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Dan Paulson, Const., Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 903, 921, ¶ 36, 169 P.3d 1 (2007).

There is no "absolute immunity" or "safe harbor" for retained counsel who breach their ethical obligations. (Pet. 14) All attorneys are subject to discipline before the Bar and ultimately before this Court. If retained counsel in fact breached a duty of care by failing to disclose a conflict of interest, the clients – TDC's insureds – have a claim for legal malpractice.⁶ Insurers can also, within the confines of RPC 5.4, obtain contractual commitments from, and remedies against, retained counsel that provide protection from excessive fees and deficient services.

TDC omits any mention of retained counsel's duties to their clients under *Tank*. The Court of Appeals adhered to the public policies that have long guided this Court in addressing the unique tri-

⁶ TDC avoided a bad faith lawsuit in which its insureds could have also asserted any viable malpractice claims against their lawyers by preemptively funding a settlement in excess of limits and obtaining a release from its insureds. TDC purported to exempt BBL from its insureds' release and then sued BBL to recover what it paid in settlement. Should this Court accept review, it should hold TDC's claim for legal malpractice was a de facto indemnity or contribution claim that is barred by Washington's Tort Reform Act (Resp. Br. 39-42) or remand to the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.7(b).

partite relationship between an insured, an insurer and the lawyer that the insurer retains to represent its insured. Its decision presents no issue of public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. Conclusion.

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision rejecting a liability insurer's malpractice claim against retained counsel presents no issues for review.